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acres, by an inclusive survey of 1792. After Mills’ death the land was acquired
/ \Matthew Harvey whose improvements thereon called attention to the
beauty of the house site and added interest to the place which then became
known as the “Mount Joy ™ Estate. The Harvey-Anderson mansion house was
burned in Hunter’s Raid, but a house is still there and the site is as magnificent

as ever. Pat

Col. John Smith’s land came next below Mills and south of Looney’s.
Early in the settlement he purchased Benj. Davis’s tract of 100 acres and in
1762 when he had returned from his experiences in war, he had an additional
survey of “98 acres on the James River, on the south side of the branch ad-
joining the land on which he dwells.” His home place seems to be the land now
known as the Boyd Spring. In 1766 he made an entry for 400 acres at the
mouth of Purgatory Creek including the Town of Pattonsburg. This with his
other holdings became the property of Margaret Buchanan, widow of Col.
John Buchanan, who afterwards married William Anderson and sold the entire
James River estate to Andrew Boyd. Col. Smith died in 1779, leaving what
property he had to his son, James Smith. For the sake of his signature and for
an example of the form of a will as wills were usually written at that time, we
are giving a fac-simile of his will as it was filed in the clerk’s office at Fincastle,
Botetourt County. The events in the life of this undaunted pioneer make up
such a large part of our story that it is superfluous to recount or summarize
them here. We may call him the most accommodating and ardent patriot on
the frontier in his time, having much to do for his community and handling
7™\ property in all its forms, yet holding few important civil positions and
acyuiring little property to leave to his family. Besides the five sons whom he
mentioned in proving his importation in Orange in 1740 he had a daughter,
Levisa or Lucy, who married Reece Bowen, and James Smith mentioned in his
will. Abraham, the eldest, is credited with marrying Sarah Caldwell and living
near North Mountain in Rockingham County, later marrying Martha Mec-
Dowell Reed, of Lexington, and Charlotte Gambill, of Rockingham. Daniel
Smith married Jane Harrison, of Linville Creek, and became a prominent
citizen of his county. Henry, the third son, appears to have remained on the
frontier. John, Jr. was killed at Vause’s, and Joseph, captured there, died in
captivity. James Smith continued to live for a time in Botetourt County and
was captain of the militia residing in the Spreading Spring community.

The village of Pattonsburg grew up along the Great Road where it first
came to the river. The road then kept up the north side of the river through
Cherry Tree Bottom and crossed the river at the mouth of Looney’s Mill
Creek. After the land on which Pattonsburg stood was patented to John
Buchanan the village was laid off as a town, and a ferry was established near-
by as Buchanan’s Ferry. Both Looney’s Ferry, now Crow’s, and Buchanan’s
continued to be operated for years. After the death of Col. Buchanan his ferry
became known as Boyd’s Ferry, at which place Andrew Boyd was licensed to
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Purgatory Mountain, Looney’s
1

keep an ordinary in 1773. An order of the county court in 1774 allowed a
ferry over the river from Crow’s land to William Anderson’s with the same fees
going to the said Anderson as were established by act of Assembly appointing
the ferry on Crow’s land. In 1779 the court allowed William Anderson and
Captain Crow for ferrying over a man and horse at their ferry 2/5; for a
waggon and team of four horses and driver, 12 shillings; for a cart and two
horses, six shillings. For a man and a horse over James River at Crow’s or
Anderson’s Ferry in 1780 the price was three dollars, and so in proportion for
other things. Both William Anderson and the Crows were allowed to keep
ordinaries at their houses at the ferry. When the old road down the river from
Crow’s to the lower ferry was stopped without authority the case was pre-
sented to the grand jury. In October, 1785, the General Assembly established
at Crow’s Ferry a warehouse for the reception and inspection of tobacco,
the proprietor meeting the expense of the building. Inspected tobacco was to be
received in discharge of debts at 28 shillings per hundred; hemp at 32 shillings
and 6 pence per hundred; and flour at 15 shillings per hundred-weight. John
Mills was the inspector at Crow’s Ware-house until 1792 when an examination
of the house was ordered and he resigned. Joseph Pryor with William Bilbro
as an additional inspector succeeded.

When the lower, or Buchanan’s Ferry, was established at Pattonsburg
the road on the south side of the river continued on west by John Mills’
crossing Looney’s Mill Creek about where the present highway does. Thus,
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ttom, Pattonsburg and Buchanan
Joy

there were two parallel roads leading west from Pattonsburg. In 1786 ““ Crow’s
Road” leading west from his ferry into the main road was ordered discontinued
#\the new fording of the river below John Mills’ opened. In 1792 the town
o1 Crowsville was established on the north side of Looney’s Mill Creek at the
ferry and later there was an iron-works and a town called Florence on the
south side. It was from Crowsville at the head of navigation on James River
that a road was ordered to be explored to the head of navigation on the Kanaw-
ha. In issuing the shares of the James River Company for the Canal it was
stated that Crow’s Ferry, at the mouth of Looney’s Creek should be forever
taken and deemed the highest place practicable for navigation to reach. In
1811 the Town of Buchanan on the south side of the river was laid off “on the
main road to the western country.” Water Street 60 feet wide was the Great

Road.
THE FORKS OF JAMES, 1770~1783, NEW GRANTS, CONVEYANCES AND SPECIAL
DEVELOPMENTS ALONG THE GREAT ROAD

August 27, 1770, John Summers—Grant, 145 acres on a branch of Buffalo.

August 27, 1770, Abraham MecClure—Grant, 70 acres on a branch of
Buffalo.

February 11, 1770, John Parks—Deed, 220 acres on Poage’s Draft from
Elizabeth Ray and John Hay.

™
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Henry Evans 1, Palzer Cluck 1, Stephen White 1, Alexander Walker 1, David i
Ml 1, George Sally 2, William Paxton 1, Nathaniel Evans 3, Wm. Beatty 1,
Adam Hickman 1, Samuel Caruthers 4, Samuel Alexander 1, William Young 1,
Arthur McClure 3, Michael Cluck 1, James Grigsby 6, William Huston 1,
John McCappass 1, Joseph McCray 1, John Gilmore 2, Thomas Sprague 1, 4
Philip Davis 1, Wm. Forin 1, Hugh Barclay 2, Mathias Clutz 1, Wm. Skillern
2, Michael Francisco 1, James Corbit 1, John Greenlee 3, Christian Tolley 1,
Stephen Lyon 2, Wm. Morton 1, Thomas Morris 1, James Johnston 1, Wm.
Millican 1, Robert Poage 1, John Mitchell 3, Wm. Davison 2, Wm. Walker 1,
Jas. Barton 1, John Mathews 1, Thomas Lackey 3, Samuel Paxton 1, John ~
McKinney 1, John Victory 1, John Spines 1, Hugh Galbrath 1, Samuel Hamil- :
ton 1, Benj. Allen 2, John Boy rid Woods 2, William Taylor 1, Wm. B
Maxfield 1, David Scott % John Right 1, James Walker 1, 3
Jos. McBride 1, Wm. Greenlee 1, John Barclay 1, George Kelly 1, Samuel ]
Braw. Ja Id 1, Christian Roads 1, Jacob Cluk 1.’
%Thomas Lackey 1, Samuel Cross 1, Cornelius -
Linneen 1. 4
In that part of the Forks community that remained in
after 1778 there lived about sixty scattered families. In 1783 a list of the heads
of these families was made with the number of horses, cattle, slaves and
tithables attached. These men constituted Captain Cartmill’s company of
militia as reported to Col. Wm. MecClenachan, Sheriff of Botetourt County.
We have already learned where many of them lived in this community and
™ be interested in watching their movements as they progress towards the s
Wost. |
In 1770 the overseer of the road from Renicks’ place to Barclay’s Mill was 3 ‘l
presented for not keeping the road in order. Benjamin Estill and David Smith et
were overseers from James River to Renicks’ from 1774 to 1777, Succeeded by -
‘Wm. Bilbro. The old way across Poteets Gap at Arnold’s to James River at 3
Stephenson’s Ford was viewed by John Greenlee, John Gilmore and James A
McClure. James Mitchell was to keep in order the road established from his ‘
house to Anderson’s Ferry. In 1780 Michael Ochletree was granted leave to Y
build a water grist mill on Renicks Run upon his own land. In 1783 John
Mills, John Cartmill and Michael Ochletree were appointed to view and mark
a wagon road from the main road below Purgatory Creek crossing the river at &
Stephenson’s Ford and down the river crossing at John Logan’s and from thence g
to the county line. William Campbell was made overseer.
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ﬂ\prﬂw01mnt, 700 acres on the head of Roaring
Run including s of iron ore adjoining heirs of John Bowen. Pat.

Bk, 35, 168.

June 13, 1796, John Gofford—Grant, 150 acres on Malcolm Allen’s
2pring Branch. Pat. Bk. 35, 338.

June 28, 1796, John Crawford—Grant, 685 acres on the Rich Patch
\lountain adjoining Michael Kimberland, Samuel Porter and John Johpston.
pat. Bk. 86, 51.

September 30, 1796, John Johnston—Grant, 1000 acres on the Rich Patch
\[t. on Wooley’s Run adjoining John Crawford. Pat. Bk. 36, 371.

November 26, 1796, Robert Young—Grant, 5000 acres on North side
James River, 7 miles from Pattonsburg and 12 miles from Botetourt Court
house. Pat. Bk. 38, 549.

April 18, 1797, Uriah Humphrey and Robert Anderson—Grant, 3000
acres on South side of James River adjoining land claimed by Robert and
Alexander Breckenridge and others. Pat. Bk. 37. 219.

April 13, 1797, George Poage—Grant, 264 acres adjoining his own land
and Survey of Peter Circle. Pat. Bk. 37, 191.

May 30, 1798, Jacob Snider—Grant, 100 acres on Roaring Run. Bk.
38, 265.

May 30, 1798, Jacob Snider—Grant, 150 acres adjoining Wm. Wilson and
Charles Spangler. Pat. Bk. 38, 275.

May 28, 1798, Peter Circle—Grant, 70 acres adjoining his own land and
Geo. Poage. Pat. Bk. 38, 299.

April 11, 1797, John Pitzer—Grant, 260 acres both sides of the road
leading to the Cowpasture River adjoining heirs of John Henderson and Henry
Bogges. Pat. Bk. 39, 233.

April 13, 1797, George Stull—Grant, 100 acres on Johnson's River ad-
joining Wm. Wilson. Pat. Bk. 39, 238.

July 27, 1797, William Davidson—Grant. 160 acres adjoining Hugh
Muldrough and Wm. Galloway. Pat. Bk. 39, 481.

April 27, 1798, John Allen—Grant, 2170 acres on North side James River.
Bk. 40, 123.

April 9, 1799, Richard Shanklin—Grant, 34 acres adjoining his own and
W Davidson. Bk. 41, 182.

COMMUNITY LIFE ALONG THE JAMES

The road up the river from Pattonsburg and Looney’s Ferry has ever been
@ matter of general interest. The Indians knew a way through the gorge. But
Col. Skillern, Malcolm Allen and John Bowen needed a wagon road. Each in
turn was responsible for the condition of the road bed. At the beginning of the
ew county John McClure, who had a mill up stream, and Thomas Reid were
ppointed Surveyors of the road from Walter Stewart’s (Pattonshurg) to
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Lawzrence’s, the tithables belonging to those Precincts to attend-the Surveyors_.
a;g_or,d&g]LCol Smith and George Skillern to proportion them between the
said surveyors. Céntinuing up the river Joseph Carpenter, Thomas Kelly and
“John Crawford were to view the way leading from Crawford’s to Peter Wright’s
on James River. Peter Wright’s was at present Covington, so this order with
certain descriptions in land entries shows that the junction of Jackson’s River
with the James at that time was at that point. George Skillern and Caleb
Worley succeeded John McClure on the lower end of the road before the end
of a year. George Poage, Samuel Lawrence and James Robinson viewed a way
from Michael Kirkham’s to the Pedlar Ford on the river and got a road
established with James Young and James Cloyd as Surveyors, the people for
five miles on each side to work on it. Mathew Arbuckle, Robert Gillespie, John
Robinson and William Hugart reported that it would be impossible to estab-
lish a road from Jacob Persinger’s to the Forks of Dunlap’s Creek. Later
Peter Wright, John Robinson and Edward McMullin were appointed to find
a way through from Wright’s to Sweet Springs. Jacob Persinger took the place
of Willilam Dougherty as overseer from the county line by the Cowpasture
to the Red Hill, and Mathew Arbuckle took the place of William Gillespie.
In 1772 the court appointed a special committee made up of George
Poage, William Lawrence, James Lawrence, George Givens, William Rowland
and George Skillern to look over the whole system of roads in relation to the
James River settlement, Pattonsburg and the Courthouse. The ways from the
courthouse to John McClure’s Mill and from the river road to the mouth of
Catawba and thence to the courthouse were to receive special consideration.
George Skillern was fined ten shillings for not keeping his road from Boyd’s to
Bowen’s Run in good repair. A road was finally established from Peter Wright’s
to Craig’s Creek at John Crawford’s, with Joseph Carpenter as overseer. A
road on the south side of the river connecting this road with Rowland’s road
by Spreading Spring was put under the care of George Burdwell. The road
connecting the Tinker Creek settlement about Greenfield with Catawba and
James River ran by James Johnston’s, Hall’'s Run, McFerran’s and on to
Boller’s Spring. The first section of it was under the care of Robert Finley and
James Rowland and the other under Thomas McFerran and William Wills.
In 1778 William Cross succeeded George Skillern as Surveyor from
Bowen’s Run to the Main Road at Boyd’s, or Pattonsburg. Caleb Worley was
allowed to build a road from his place over Timber Ridge to Crow’s Road, and
Samuel and John McClure were allowed to help him. Joseph Pryor took John
Crawford’s place on the southern end of the “Bullard” Spring Road and
George Poage and Thomas McFerran were on the northern end. John Robin-
son, Gent., succeeded Peter Wright from Wright’s to Sweet Springs. Joseph
Kyle took Thomas McFerran’s place from Hall’s Run to Bullard’s Spring-
Thomas Arbuckle took over the cross country road from Hanley’s mill to the

head of Kerr’s Creek.
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Taylor, Sr.—200 acres adjoining his own on John’s Creek; Thomas Price—
400 acres on Barber’s Creek; William Guthrie—38 acres on Sinking Creek,
adjoining James Currie and Samuel Adams; Robt. M. Hutcherson—3570 acres
on John’s Creek; Peter Disher-—128 acres on north side of Craig’s Creek,
adjoining his own.

1799. Julius Webb—350 acres adjoining John Webb, his own and Geo.
Taylor; Daniel Givens—30 acres on Craig’s Creek; John Jones—96 acres on
Buck Run of Craig’s Creek, adjoining Martin Spencer; John Jones—340 acres
on Buck Run; John Server—60 acres on both sides of Craig’s Creek; Henry
Wax and Jeremiah Bell—330 acres on waters of Craig’s Creek; Stephen
Moore—190 acres on head waters of Roaring Run of Craig’s Creek; Robt.
McCorkle—115 acres on Craig’s Creek, adjoining land of Col. Patton; Charles
King—190 acres head of Roaring Run.

DEEDS ON CRAIG’S CREEK—1770-1783

February 2, 1770. John Ritchie—100 acres on Craig’s Creek for £20,
from Patton’s Executors.
February 5, 1770. John Crawford, Jr.—77 acres on Patterson’s Creek,
from William Preston.
February 6, 1770. John Taylor—248 acres on Craig’s Creek, for £15,
from Patton’s Executors.
February 7, 1770. Gerrard Manifield—41 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
Patton’s Executors.
February 9, 1770. William Preston—220 acres on Barber’s Creek, from
_Wm. Lee of Bedford.
i February 13, 1770. William Caldwell-—197 acres on Craig’s Creek, £30,
from James Murtree and Susannah.
May 16, 1771. Thomas Arnott—85 acres on Craig’s Creek, at Mulberry
Bottom, from Israel Christian and Elizabeth.
June 20, 1771. David Potts—130 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Frederick
Hartsough.
August 1, 1771. Alexander Stewart—62 and 181 acres on Craig’s Creek
from Henry Paulem:-—.
~=—=~ November 12,\1771./Henry Smith—162 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
é Wm. Bluford and Mary. .
L— April 14, 1772. John Galloway—95 acres on Pott’s Creek, from Wm.
Preston.
September 8, 1772. Edward Carvin—85 acres on John’s Creek, from
Patton’s Executors.
September 12, 1772. Adam Looney—150 acres on Stone Run of Craig’s
Creek, from Israel Christian and Elizabeth.
February 1, 1773. Lodowick Francisco—388 acres on Craig’s Creek,
from William Preston and Susanna.
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February 10, 1773. Richard Adams—150 acres on Stony Run of Craig’s
Creek, from Adam Looney.

February 8, 1774. Thomas Miller—210 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
Francis Smith and Ann.

November 18, 1774. James Barnett—113 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
Jas. Robinson.

February 14, 1775. John Tillery—193 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
Patton’s Executors.

March 14, 1775. John Ritchie—71 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patton’s
Executors; William Atkins—119 acres on both sides of John’s Creek, from
Patton’s Executors; Redmond Atkins—175 acres on both sides of John’s Creek,
from Patton’s Executors; Jos. McMurtry—176 acres on John'’s Creek, from
Patton’s Executors; Peter Conrad—130 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patton’s
Esxecutors; John Wills—190 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patton’s Executors;
Thomas Arnet—350 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patton’s Executors; John
Tunley—122 acres on John's Creek, from Patton’s Executors; Thomas Martin
—150 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patton’s Executors; Thomas Atkins—86
and 110 acres on John’s Creek, from Patton’s Executors; John Caldwell—120
acres on John’s Creek, from Patton’s Executors.

__1776. John Burke—220 acres on Barber’s Creek, from William Preston.
| 777. Henry Smith—220 acres on Barber’s Creek, from John Burk. ”/Y

May 13, 1777. George Green—S82 acres on both sides of Craig’s Creek,
from Patton’s Executors.

1778. John Taylor—297 acres on Craig’s Creek, from William Caldwell
and Mary; Charles Tooley—130 acres on Craig's Creek, from David Potts.

1779. Isham Talbert—220 acres on Barber’s Creek, from Henry Smith.

March 8, 1779. Isham Watkins—193 acres on Craig’s Creek, from John
Tilley and Margaret; Robert Calvert—tract on Craig’s Creek, from
Thomas Miller and Jane.

March 9, 1779. Andrew Crawford—158 acres in Forks of Patterson and
Craig’s Creek, from John Crawford, Sr.

March 11, 1779. Redmond Eakin—119 acres on John’s Creek, from
Wm. Eakin.

March 12, 1779. Patrick McCorkle—248 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
John Taylor and Mary; James Taylor—130 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Peter
Conrad and Catrina.

May 8,1779. Hugh Caldwell—124 acres on Craig’s Creek, from John Potts.

May 20, 1779. Zebard Sallards—122 acres on Craig's Creek, from John
Tunley.

August 10, 1779. John Watkins—30 acres on Craig’s Creek, from John
Taylor.

September 10, 1779. David Frame
John Potts and Rebecca.

122 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
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May 10, 1780. Arthur Williams—64 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patton’s
Executors; James Anderson—104 acres in Botetourt County, from Thomas
Miller and Jane. .

September 18, 1780. James Taylor—89 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
Philip Watkins for Price Watkins.

October 12, 1780. John Taylor—54 acres on Stone Run, from Jos.
MecMurtry.

October 23, 1780. Thos. Middleton—102 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
David Frame and Mary.

June 14, 1781. James Gray—130 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Charles

Tooley. /!
e August 11, 1781. John Smith—85—65—200 acres on John’s Creek, from 1
N Edward Carvin, by Pat. Lockhart. )

January 30, 1782. Charles Tulley—96 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
William Preston.

March 18, 1782. William Scott
Sallars.

April 15, 1782. Matthew Compton—190 and 220 acres on Craig’s Creek,
from Francis Smith and Ann.

August 12, 1783. Jacob Carper—46 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Patrick
McCorkle and Elizabeth, part of tract where Patrick now lives.

October 5, 1783. Thomas Abbott—130 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
James Taylor and Ann.

October 8, 1783. Andrew Huffman—189 acres on Craig's Creek. from
Philip Watkins.

November 14, 1783. John Galloway—197 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
John Taylor and Mary.

June 14, 1784. Jeremiah Bell—190 acres on Craig’s Creek, from John
McCullom.

August 3, 1784. Jacob Brackfield—175 acres on Craig’'s Creek, from
Elizabeth Tarr and Peter Tarr, Pat. and Geo. Peter Tarr, 1780.

August 10, 1784. Christian Snidow—165 acres on Craig’s Creek, from
Jacob Brackfield of Montgomery County.

August 14, 1784. Joshua Baine—77 acres on Patterson’s Creek, from John
1 Crawford and Rachel.
E | 1785. William Scott—64 acres on north side Craig’s Creek, from Arthur
Williams.

122 acres on Craig’s Creek, from Sebert

COMMUNITY LIFE ON CRAIG'S CREEK, 1770-1783

1 A road connecting the lower part of the valley of Craig’s Creek with
Catawba was needed. Henry Paulin, Andrew Crawford and Samuel McFerran
were ordered to view a way from Thomas MecIerran’s by Patterson Creek to
Henry Paulin’s on Craig’s Creek. Paulin reported that a wagon road might
easily be made there, but one other of the viewers was required to sign the
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report before a justice before the road was ordered. Samuel McFerran and
Henry Paulin were then ordered to open the road and keep the same in repair.

A way over the ridge from Dennis Getty’s on Sinking Creek to William
Caldwell’s mill was marked out by Absalom Looney and Amos Potts, and
James McAfee, Jr., and Ludwick, Francisco were appointed its surveyors. The
road from Caldwell’s mill to James McAfee’s on Catawba was also under the
supervision of these surveyors with Joseph McMurtry and George McAfee as
commissioners to apportion the bounds between them.

A subsequent order (1773) established a road from Craig’s Creek across
the mountain to Sinking Creek with Robert McAfee in charge of all the
tithables within five miles of either side to open and keep the same in repair.
Henry Holston was surveyor of the road from Montgomery’s Gap to Me-
Murtry’s Mill in the room of John Potts. And James Byrnsides was surveyor
of the new road from Sweet Springs to John Hanley’s at the head of Indian
(Creek. In the next year (1774) Edward Carvin, Moses Higgenbotham, John
Hanley, Henry Smith and Solomon Tirpen were appointed to view the several
ways from Robert Caldwell’s on Craig’s Creek Mountain to the Sweet Springs.

In 1775 Joseph McMurtry, Thomas Akin, Edward Carvin and Henry
Holston were to view the nighest and best way from the mouth of John’s Creek
to the fork of the said Creek at William Carmack’s. By 1778 several new
mills are mentioned. Andrew Wilson, Andrew Crawford, William Dehart and
Thomas Arnett were viewing the way proposed by William Crawford from his
mill to James Wilson's on Craig’s Creek. John Withers was made surveyor of
the road over Sinking Creek Mountain to John Webb’s Mill. On this road the
tithables from the head of Craig’s Creek to Caldwell’s mill were to attend and
work. When established the road from William Crawfords mill up Craig's

Creek was to end at John Tillery i Ritchey was to be surveyor. The
tithables in the bounds of d John Crawford’s Companies

dowr eek were to work on this road.
mond Akin, Thomas Akin, John Caldwell and Moses Penter,

were appointed to view the road from the Fork Survey on John’s Creek to
Taylor’s Mill on Craig’s Creek. This road was established the next year. From
Taylor’s Mill to James McAfee’s, John Server was the new surveyor. A little
later (1783) a new way was marked out from the place formerly Balliner’s on
Barber’s Creek to the Sweet Springs. This was done by Wm. Hamilton, John
Lewis, James Moss and John Gallowa,

! vo being further interested
n a bridle way being opened by Capt. om Craig’s Creek to
Thomas Price’s, and extended by Thomas his house to John

ay’s and further extended by James Moss from the county line to
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1794. Thomas Beard and Martha Wilson, of Thomas and Jean: Nimrod
Crawford and Elizabeth Gray; Elijah Depew and Elizabeth Peck, of Benjamin;
James Montgomery and Elizabeth McFerran, of Samuel; John Pitzer, Jr., and
Charlotte Davidson; James Scantlin and Eliza Welsh.

1795. William Bowen and Elizabeth Smith; John Buchanan and Sarah
Moseby Laforce, of Samuel; John Cross and Polly Mays, of John: John
Lauderdale and Amelia Woods: James Mays and Sarah Reid; William Mitchell
and Sarah Hawkins; Thomas Moore and Martha Wood, of Joseph Wood;
John Pitzer and Mary Long; Alexander Stewart and Dorothea See; Stephen
Trigg and Polly Hardy.

1796. Jacob Depew and Mary Peck, of Benjamin; Andrew Kelly and
Sarah Wall, of John; Nicholas Carnes and Elizabeth Robinson, of John; Hugh
Means and Sara Snodgrass; Joseph Miller and Betsy Allen, of Hugh; John
Tathum and Mary Helmintoller.

1797. James Anderson and Ann Sharkey; James Crawford and Eleanor
Hunter; Charles Beale and Elizabeth Skillern, of George; Isaac Carper and
Susanna Levain; Jacob Gammon and Christina Graybill, of John; Samuel
Ramsey and Elizabeth Allen; John Read and Hannah Francisco; John Sarver
and Mary Smith.

1798. Peter Creider and Catherine Crush, of Peter; Jacob Nicely and
Magdalene Circle, of Peter; Daniel Niday and Nancy Scott; Abraham Pitzer
and Polly Poage, of John Pitzer; Bernard Pitzer and Jane Kyle, of Jos. Kyle;
Frederick Pitzer and Nancy Kimberling; Abraham Smith and Margaret
Johnston; Joseph Snodgrass and Jannet Craddock.

1799. Malcolm Allen and Margaret Henderson; Charles Bowen and
Elizabeth Shaver; William Caldwell and Prisuillam(]ark
and Margaret Little, of William; Thomas Eakin an b

1799. William George and Eliner Snodgrass; John McConnell and
Catherine Riddleberger, of John; Thomas McFerran and Hannah Van Meter,
of Hetty; Mathew Mays and Esther Reid; Jacob Neuwanger and Rebecca
Reid; Wm. Poage and Susanna Banges; William Snodgrass and Peggy Divin.

1800. Benjamin Carper and Elizabeth Van Meter; James Depew and
Margaret Peck; George Linkenhoger and Elizabeth Stone; Joseph Linkenhoger
and Fanny Riddlebarger; Abraham Niday and Susanna Snodgrass; Isaac
Snodgrass and Jean Preston.

1801. Mathew McMillin and Polly Wysong, Fiatt Wysong; William
Snodgrass and Esther Walker.

1802. Jacob Peck and Liney Givens; John Poage and Jane Kyle; James
Rowland and Sarah Kyle, of Wm. Kyle; John Walker and Esther Looney.

1803. Jacob Howry and Susannah Wax, of Henry Wax; John LefHe and
Elizabeth Obenchain; Elias Linkenhoger and Catherine Young; William
Mann and Nancy Caldwell; Robert Steele and Elizabeth Wilson; Henry
Wax and Catherine Root.
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Norvell (1806), from whom it passed to Samuel White whose landed estate
was divided in 1827, giving an outline of the extent of the Fort Lewis lands as
described in the Ross Patent. From this division the part of the estate includ-
ing the Mansion House came into the possession of Alexander White whose
family lived there many years.

Fort Lewis itself stood on the hill in the valley between Campbell’s and
Bryan’s around which hill the road was ordered turned and around which ran
the lines of Alexander Boyd’s patent for 248 acres. The place name, **Fort
Lewis,” became attached to the house place and store of the “Boyd-Ross”
Plantation and has been carried down through the White ownership to the
present Fort Lewis of tourists’ manuals.

Immediately around Fort Lewis were grants to John Charlton (46 acres,
1768); John Keith (850 acres on a branch that empties into the Roanoke at
the upper end of William Walton’s Bottom, 1787); James Mason and William
Lewis (700 acres joining the land of David Ross known by the name of the
Fort Lewis tract, 1790) and James Smith (350 acres adjoining David Ross,
Peter Deyerle and his own 1796).

MASON'S COVE

Across the ridge in Mason’s Cove interest centers around the original
grant to John Mason, Sr., 176 acres devised by John Mason, Sr., to John
Mason, Jr., and sold by James Mason, the son of John, Jr., to Jeremiah Pate,
of Bedford. To this was added 300 acres by patent, which with a surplus made
an inclusive survey of 508 acres. This was devised to the sons of Jeremiah
Pate: Nathan, William, Minor, and Jeremiah, Jr. Nathan Pate was insane,
so his part was taken over by his brothers. Jeremiah Pate sold his interest to
Frederick Thrasher, William and Minor acquired from Absalom Smith, Sr.,
other land which they sold to John Smit-hjﬂ:ibralwm_,sm.i@, Jr. This land
In 1795 Absalom Smith
had a grant for 196 acres on Mason's Creek including the Mud Lick, and 300
and 230 acres adjoining his own and Jeremiah Pate. Above at the head of
Mason’s Creek Daniel Goodwin had a grant for 600 acres.

THE RESIDENTS OF THIS COMMTUNITY STITU! CAPTAIN LEWIS'S NEW
COMPAD
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~pective county courts, taken the oaths appointed to be taken by law, and
__.voscribed to be conformable to the doctrine and discipline of the church of
England, shall, to all intents and purposes, be deemed and taken to be the
vestries of the said parishes respectively; which said vestries are hereby im-
powered and made capable to take, receive, and hold, any lands, tenements,
or hereditaments, which shall be purchased or given as a glebe or glebes for
the use of the minister of each parish respectively, for the time being, forever.

VIII. And be it further enacted, That if, upon the division of the said
county and parish, any money shall be in hand, or due to the county or parish,
as the same now is entire, such money shall be divided between the new coun-
ties and parishes, in proportion to the number of tithables in each, and by them
applied towards lessening their respective levies; and if any money or tobacco
shall happen to be levied this present year by the court of the said county of
Augusta for repairs done, or to be made, to the courthouse or prison, the
money or tobacco, so levied, shall be proportioned and divided as aforesaid.

IX. And whereas the people situated on the waters of the Mississippi will
be very remote from their courthouse, and must necessarily become a separate
county, as soon as their numbers are sufficient, which will probably happen in
a short time: Be it further enacted, by the authority aforesaid, That the
inhabitants of that part of the said county of Botetourt, which lies on the said
waters, shall be exempted from the payment of any levies, to be laid by the
said county court for the purpose of building a court-house and prison for the
sgad county.”"t

In 1778 an act was passed providing that the court of the county of
Botetourt should be held on the second Thursday of every month.2

On June 12, 1770 a report of the dividing line between Botetourt and
Augusta was returned to court by James Trimble. It was ordered to be re-
corded and the said James was allowed at the laying of the next County Levy
sixteen pounds, three shillings and three pence for running the same, being
the fees allowed by law, and for his expenses.®

1770, APRIL YE 20TH, DIVISION LINE BETWEEN AUGUSTA AND BOTETOURT

Beginning at two Chestnuts and a Black Oak on the South Mountain by
a Spring of Peales Creek on Amherst Line and running thence north 55 degrees
west four and three-fourth miles to a large Spanish Oak marked A C on the
one side and B C on the other side where the South River of Mary’s Creek
empties into the North Branch of James River, and up the North River to
Kerr's Creek and up Kerr’s Creek to the upper fork of the said Creek at
Gilmore’s Gap. Then beginning at a Chestnut and three Chestnut Oaks and
a Pine at the upper Fork of Kerr’s Creek and Running the same course, to wit,
North 55 degrees west 2314 miles Crossing the Cowpasture in Donelly’s Place
at a Large Poplar on the River marked A C and B C and crossing the road

1 Hening S, 395 2Hening 9, 580. 3Bot. Orders of Court.
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/\between the Warm Spring and the Hot Spring 15 miles and sixty poles from
the head of Kerr’s Creek Crossing Jackson’s River in John Dean’s Plantation
and crossing Black Creek three times to several large marked trees, particu-
Jarly two large white Oaks marked A C and B C on the west side of Anthony’s
Creek Mountain which divides the eastern and western waters to which place
the Worshipful Court of Augusta Agreed to run the said line.r

This line was not immediately extended westward to the Ohio, but the
territory porth of that line was considered under the jurisdiction of Augusta
County and formed what was known from that time as West Augusta Distriet,
the boundaries of which were definitely defined by an Act of the General
Assembly in 1776. Beginning on the Alleghany mountains between the heads
of Potowmack, Cheat and Greenbrier Rivers, thence along the ridge of moun-
tains which divide the waters of Cheat River from those of Greenbrier, and
that branch of Monongahela River called Tiger’s Valley River to the Mononga-
hela, thence up the said river, and the west fork thereof, to Bingerman’s
Creek, on the northwest side of the said west fork, thence up the said creek
to the head thereof, thence in a direct course to the head of Middle Island
Creek, a branch of the Ohio, and thence to the Ohio, including all the waters
of the said creek in the aforesaid District of West Augusta, all that territory
lying to the northward of the aforesaid boundary, and to the westward of
the states of Pennsylvania and Maryland, shall be deemed, and is hereby
declared to be within the District of West Augusta.

[\ BOTETOURT COUNTY ORGANIZED

The Justices—His Majesty’s Commission of the Peace bearing date at
Williamsburg the twenty-second day of December, 1769, was directed to
Andrew Lewis, Richard Woods, Robert Brackenridge, William Preston, John
Bowyer, Israel Christian, John Maxwell, James Trimble, Benjamin Hawkins,
David Robinson, Willlam Fleming, George Skillern and Benjamin Estill,
Gentlemen, thereby constituting them jointly and severally his Justices to
keep his peace in the County of Botetourt. Any four or more of them, of whom
one should be Andrew Lewis, Richard Woods, Robert Brackenridge, William
Preston, John Bowyer, Israel Christian or John Maxwell, might constitute a
court by meeting at the usual place for holding Courts for the County according
to law to hear and determine all suits, etc.; to keep or cause to be kept all
orders of Council and Proclamations directed to them; to punish the offenders
and breakers of laws and orders; and to keep or cause the Clerk of the Court to
keep Records of all Judgments, Rules or Orders decided or agreed upon by
them.

In the matter of territory represented by these justices, Andrew Lewis,
Robert Brackenridge, William Preston, Israel Christian, David Robinson and
William Fleming were from the Roanoke; Richard Woods, John Bowyer,

1Reported May 3, 1773.

/'\
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_1770. The Clerks of the Court—John May was the first clerk, appointed
" bmmission, December 22, 1769.

1771. David McCoy, Deputy Clerk.

1778. David May succeeded John May, who resigned.

1785. Alexander Smyth was appointed Deputy Clerk.

1788. David May resigned and Henry Bowyer was appointed.

1770. The Surveyors—William Preston, Gentleman, was the first Surveyor,
ppointed by the Governor during pleasure. John Trimble was commissioned
Jeputy Surveyor by the President and Masters of William and Mary College.

1771. Francis Smith was appointed Deputy Surveyor.

1772. Samuel Lewis was commissioned Surveyor with Richard May as
Jeputy.

1778. Thomas Bullett was commissioned Surveyor of a District on the Ohio.

1778. David May was appointed Surveyor with Samuel Walker as Deputy.

1792. William Anderson was appointed Surveyor of Botetourt County.

1770. The first Coroners were William Preston, Andrew Lewis and James
“rimble.

The first Escheators were William Preston, Thomas Madison and David May.

The King's Attorneys were Luke Bowyer, Thomas Madison and George
Tancock, Gent.

Members of the House of Burgesses were William Preston and John Bowyer,
769-1772; John Bowyer and Andrew Lewis, 1772-1775.

/117(5. Representatives in the first General Assembly of the Commonwealth
er{" Delegates, John Bowyer and Patrick Lockhart; Senate, Wm. Christian,
r Botetourt and Fincastle.

1778. Delegates were Patrick Lockhart and Wm. McClenachan; 1779, Wm.
[cClenachan and George Skillern; 1780, John Wood and Thomas Madison.

1780. William Christian represented Greenbrier, Botetourt, Montgomery,
“ashington and Kentucky in the Senate. The next Delegates were John
reckenridge, Samuel Lewis, Archibald Stuart, George Hancock; the next
'nator was John Brown.

THE MILITIA OFFICERS

1770. Colonel of Militia, William Preston; Lieutenant Colonel, Robert
eckenridge; Major, William Christian; Captains, John Bowyer, David
sbinson, James Cloyd, Francis Smith, Robert Doak, Philip Love, Matthew
buckle, Anthony Bledsoe, Walter Crockett and Arthur Campbell; Lieu-
iants, Henry Paulin and James McAfee; Quartermaster, John May.

May, 1770, Captain, William Herbert; Major, William Ingles.

March, 1771, Captain, John Robinson.

October, 1771, Lieutenant in Capt. John Robinson’s Company, John Dean.

June 1774. Col. Preston moved from Botetourt to Fincastle county in

spring of 1774, and Col. Breckenridge had died, so William Fleming was

imissioned Colonel in the county of Botetourt. The new captains were
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William Crow, John Stewart, William McClenachan, Wm. McKee, James
Ward and James Henderson. In 1777 the captains of companies were Capt.
Crockett, Capt. Armstrong, Capt. Henry Smith, Capt. Rowland, Capt.

~McFerran, Capt. Lockhart, Capt. Cook; Capt. John Anderson, Capt. Andrew

Hamilton, Capt. Brown, Capt. Stewart, Capt. Wm. Hamilton, Capt. John
Henderson, Capt. Gillespie, Capt. Van Bibber, Capt. Dean, Capt. Givens,
Capt. Hanley, Capt. Gilmore, Capt. John Paxton, Capt. James Hall, Capt.
Samuel Wallace and Capt. Wm. Paxton. In 1778 James Barnett became a
captain, Hugh Crockett, Major and Geo. Hutcheson, Ensign. In 1779 George
Poage was Colonel, James Smith, Captain, John Boller, Captain. In 1780
David May was recommended as Captain, Robert Steele First Lieut., Wm.
McArnold, Second Lieut. In Logan’s company, John Cartinill was captain;
Henry Cartinill, Lieut., and David Wallace, Ensign. Geo. Rutledge was
Lieut. in Captain William Robinson’s company. From 1780 to 1783 numerous
militia officers were appointed: among them George Skillern and Hugh
Crockett, Colonels; Dr. John Wood, Captain; Thos. Rowland, Major; Jno.
Mills, Jr., Lieut.; James Woods and John Reynolds, Lieutenants; Joseph
Looney, Captain; Wm. McClellan and Absalom Looney, Ensigns; James
Lauderdale, Lieut.; James Woods, captain in the place of Wm. Robinson;
Henry Watterson, Lieut.; John Rutledge, Ensign; William Robinson, Ensign;
John McRoberts, Second Lieutenant; Adam Peck, Ensign; Wm. McClenachan,
Major; James Neely, Jr., Captain; Andrew Armstrong, First Lieut.; Robert
Neely, Second Lieut.; James Tosk, Ensign; John Lewis, Captain; William
Walton, Second Lieut.; Andrew Lewis, First Lieut.; John Love, Ensign of a
neighborhood company about Fort Lewis and Mason’s Creek; Wm. McNeely,
Second Lieut. in Capt. Barnett's Company, James Raeburn, Ensign; John
Galloway, Capt. in John Robinson’s late company, Wallace Estill, First
Lieut.; John Herbert, Second Lieut.; James Fleming, Ensign in Capt. Hanley’s
Company; Wm. Goodson, Second Lieut. in Capt. Eason’s Company, Thomas
McGeorge, Ensign; David Iddings, Ensign in Capt. Martin’s Company(; James
Hutcheson, Second Lieut. in Capt. Smith’s Company, Samuel McFerran,

“Ensign; John Rutledge, Second Lieut. in Capt. Wood’s Company, Thomas

Gillis, Ensign; Hugh Allen, Second Lieut. in Capt. Prior’s Company, Uriah
Humphries, Ensign; Geo. Frazier, Second Lieut. in Capt. Handley’s Company;
James Tosh, Second Lieut. in Capt. Neely’s Company, Mathew Scott, Ensign;
Geo. Rutledge, Captain the place of James Woods; William McClenachan,
Lieut. Colonel of Militias in August, 1781; William Ward, Lieut. Colonel,
1782; Francis Graham was recommended as Captain in 1783, Joseph Richard-
son as Lieutenant, George Graham, Ensign.

THE COURT AND ITS PROCEDURE

From the beginning of the Colony monthly courts were held in the differ-
ent precincts. In 1623 they were directed to be kept once a month in the
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The Botetourt Prison Bounds at the Town of Fincastle in the land donated to the County
by Israel Christian—45 Acres on the East side of Miller’s Mill—1770

directed to by Robert Breckenridge, Israel Christian, John Bowyer and William
Fleming & from the place where the aforesaid Justices shall direct the Court
House to be built he do lay off ten acres of land for prison bounds. The court
doth appoint Israel Christian & Stephen Trigg to agree with a workman to
build a log cabbin twenty four feet long and twenty feet wide for a Court House,
with a clapboard roof and two small sheads, one at each end for jury rooms.

The Court doth give leave to James McGavock to build a log cabin twenty
feet long and sixteen feet wide, with an addition at the end of it the same
width and twenty feet long for a prison and the Gaolor’s House, the expense
of which to be repaid him by the County.

May 8, 1770. Ordered that the Surveyor of Botetourt County lay off
ten acres of land immediately for prison bounds where the court now sits.

May 9, 1770. The court directs two and an half acres of land part of
forty five acres given up by Capt. Israel Christian to the County to be laid off
by the Surveyor as shall be directed by Robert Breckenridge, Wm. Fleming,
Francis Smith. Benjamin Smith & Andrew Woods or any three of them the
aforesaid Gent. point out the place where the court house and prison shall be
built to the workman and the same persons to direct the Surveyor to lay off
thirty half acre lots they shall judge most for the benefit of the County out of
the aforesaid forty five acres to be sold for the benefit of the County.




